2001

Continental Telephone Company of Utah v. State Tax Commission of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASES

These are consolidated cases arising on petitions for review by this Court of a decision of the State Tax Commission assessing additional corporation franchise taxes.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASES IN THE TAX COMMISSION

The Tax Commission's Decision No. 288 partially disallowed deductions made by the taxpayers, in the computation of Utah corporation franchise taxes, for federal income taxes paid.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON REVIEW

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the Commission's decision.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The taxpayers in the cases before the Court are The Midland Telephone Company and Utah Telephone

Company (formerly Bear River Telephone Company), two public utility corporations. During the tax years in question, 1965 through 1970, the two were separate corporations having the same parent, Continental Telephone Corporation, which owned 100% of the stock of Midland and more than 99% of the stock of Utah.¹

Both taxpayers provide telephone service in rural areas. Midland's main office is at Moab, in Grand County, and Utah has its headquarters at Tremonton, Box Elder County. About 95% of Midland's service area, plant and business is within the state, and the correctness of its allocation of the proportion of its income to this state as reported in its Utah return was not questioned at the tax audits and was not involved at the Tax Commission hearing (Finding 2; R. 12). The certificated service area of Utah is wholly within this state, and thus all of its income is Utah income which was so reported on its Utah corporation franchise tax return.

Each taxpayer, as a public utility, holds a certificate of convenience and necessity describing the area within which it provides telephone service to the public. Each is subject to the regulatory supervision of the Public Service Commission in respect to its rates, its allowable revenues and expenses, its investment in plant, its financing, and other like matters. The accounting records of each company are required to be kept in the manner prescribed by the Public Service Commission, and are

¹Both cases bear the same name here because, after the tax years in question, Midland merged into Utah and the surviving corporation took the present corporate name of Continental Telephone Company of Utah, the present plaintiff. In this brief, the taxpayer corporations are referred to separately, so as to conform with the manner in which the tax returns were filed and audited, and with the record made at the Commission hearing.

maintained in such a way that the information required for regulation may be obtained (Finding 2; R. 12).

Each taxpayer files its Utah corporation franchise tax return with the Tax Commission as a separate corporation.

Continental, the parent corporation, has a number of subsidiaries other than Midland and Utah. Most of these are operating telephone utilities like the two Utah companies but some are non-utility companies (Tr. 31). The number of Continental subsidiaries varied, during the tax years involved, but averaged in the range of about 130 companies (Tr. 31). These affiliates of the Continental system do business in 42 states and a few foreign countries (R. 12).

Exhibits 2 through 7 are the corporation franchise tax returns filed by Utah with the Tax Commission. Exhibits 11 through 16 are the returns filed by Midland. In the computation of its taxable income, each made the usual deduction from gross income of an amount for its federal income taxes for that year. It is this deduction which is the disputed item in the present proceeding. The hearing thus was concerned principally with the process by which the federal income taxes were computed and paid.

Midland and Utah join with the other subsidiaries of Continental in the filing of a consolidated federal income tax return (R. 13, ¶15). The parties stipulated that “[t]he steps involved in the computation, payment and inter-system accounting of the consolidated federal tax of the Continental group for each of the years in question were taken as required or permitted under the

federal laws and regulations” (Exhibit 1, ¶7). Details of the process are summarized in the stipulation (Exhibit 1, ¶7(a)-7(f) and the closing agreement between Continental and the Internal Revenue Service (Exhibit 18), and are amplified and explained in the testimony and cross examination of the witness Gunter, Continental’s chief tax officer (Tr. 30-35, 47-51).

The consolidated federal tax return of Continental and the subsidiaries is prepared on a “separate company” basis (Tr. 31-2). Continental acts as agent for each member of the consolidated group, in accordance with the federal regulations. On behalf of each member, it files a declaration of estimated taxes at the beginning of the tax year, remits quarterly payments, files the consolidated return, pays the tax at the end of the tax year, and otherwise represents the members of the consolidated group in dealings with the Internal Revenue Service. Each of the members, including Midland and Utah, computes its declaration of estimated federal taxes separately at the beginning of the tax year and remits its quarterly payment to Continental, which forwards the consolidated payment to the IRS (Tr. 35). At the close of the year, the federal taxable income is computed by each subsidiary for itself, as a separate corporation (Tr. 32). The figures are then sent to the parent and consolidated in the federal return. Preparation of the consolidated return involves the combining of the separately computed net taxable incomes of each subsidiary. As explained by Mr. Gunter, this step also requires a verification that certain of the deductions separately taken by the members do not in the aggregate exceed the limitations also imposed

upon a consolidated group (Tr. 32). The consolidated return then is filed with the IRS by the parent with its payment on behalf of the members of the indicated federal tax. The remittances of all members of the group are made by actual transfers of funds and are not merely accounting entries (Tr. 35).

In the tax years involved here, the net amount due the IRS under the consolidated return is less than the sum of all the tax payments remitted separately to the parent by the income-producing members of the group. The difference arises because a few subsidiaries incurred operating losses. The consolidated incomes thus totalled less than the incomes reported by the profit-producing members.

The record details the handling of the funds reflecting the difference between the tax payments received by Continental and the consolidated tax remitted by it to the federal government. Each loss-incurring subsidiary receives from Continental the amount it would otherwise receive from the IRS by way of refund if it had filed its federal return separately (Tr. 35-36). In a few instances, a loss-incurring subsidiary does not immediately receive a refund (as where, in the example stated by the witness, a newly acquired subsidiary incurs a loss but lacks "enough experience" with Continental to justify a loss carry-forward. In such a case, no refund is available from the parent until in future quarters the earnings experience of the subsidiary supports a refund; the parent then remits the refund to the subsidiary as would be the case were that subsidiary a separately filing corporation (Tr. 36-37).

The Continental witness, Gunter, an experienced tax accountant with responsibility for the supervision of the Continental system's returns, testified that the Continental system in the long run pays no less and no more Federal tax whether the tax returns are computed separately or computed on a consolidated basis; however, when a consolidated return is utilized, the members of the system realize a benefit by reason of the quicker availability of funds (Tr. 44-45).

During the Tax Commission's audit of the Utah corporation franchise tax returns of Midland and Utah, the auditor requested and the taxpayers supplied the figures showing Continental's consolidated federal income and taxes for all subsidiaries. The staff then proposed the deficiencies which are the subject of these cases. The staff computation would partly disallow the federal tax deductions taken, by reducing the deduction in the proportion that the taxpayer's federal tax bears to the federal tax of the consolidated system. The staff theory is that, as the Continental system paid a lesser federal tax because of the losses of some subsidiaries, the difference is allocable among the income-producing subsidiaries to cut down their federal "taxes paid" deduction in their state tax returns. (For an example of an audit computation, with staff explanation, see Exhibit 15, Midland's 1969 return, into which the audit has been stapled.)

For hearing purposes the cases of Utah and Midland were consolidated by the Commission and a formal hearing was held July 6, 1972. At the hearing, the parties submitted an agreed statement of facts (Exhibit

1) and stipulated that the arithmetic involved in the staff's deficiency computations would not be disputed and that the proceedings taken and filing made by the taxpayers and by the Auditing Division were regular and correct. The staff offered testimony and exhibits, as did the taxpayers. The Commission issued its Decision on October 9, 1974, sustaining the staff-proposed deficiencies in every respect.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1.

THE DEDUCTIONS TAKEN BY MIDLAND AND UTAH FOR FEDERAL TAXES PAID ARE DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY AUTHORIZED BY SECTION 59-13-7, UCA 1953.

In their computations of their Utah corporation franchise taxes, Midland and Utah deducted their respective federal income taxes, computed on the separate company basis explained above and delivered to the parent company for remittance to the federal government. The Commission's partial disallowance of the deduction limits the taxpayers to a proportionate share of the Continental federal income tax due on the consolidated return. It is only this lesser amount, it is said by the Commission, that the two Utah companies "actually" paid. This part of the taxpayers' brief shows that the deduction is authorized by the applicable statute and that the Commission's action was unlawful because contrary to the statute.

The "taxes paid or accrued" deduction is authorized by Section 59-13-7(3), UCA 1953, which provides:

In computing net income there shall be allowed as deductions:

* * *

Taxes Paid.

(3) Taxes paid or accrued within the taxable year, except —

(a) Taxes imposed by this chapter; and,

(b) Taxes assessed against local benefits of a kind tending to increase the value of the property assessed; provided, that so much of taxes as are properly allocable to maintenance or interest charges may be deducted.

A Kansas case, *Cities Service Gas Company v. McDonald*, 204 Kan. 705, 466 P2d 277 (1970), is squarely in point. In that case, upon facts similar to those here, the court construed a statute like ours to mean that the subsidiary may deduct in full the amount of its separately computed federal income tax payment made to its parent, which in turn made refund-type payments to those subsidiaries reporting losses. The holding of the case is that the profitable subsidiary actually incurred and paid its federal tax and may therefore deduct it on the state return. The Kansas court stated (466 P2d, at 283):

Under the procedure followed here, the parent company acted simply as a clearing house in collecting tax monies from those of its subsidiaries having taxable income and in refunding and paying out to its loss subsidiaries the amounts to which they were entitled by reason of their loss credits having been utilized in the consolidated return. No gain actually resulted to the parent. Just the same, a tax liability was incurred and paid by Gas Company. Its tax liability was reported and

paid to the parent company, and the consolidated return reflected that tax liability in the same amount as had an individual return been filed. As already pointed out, there was no tax saving to either the parent or Gas Company as a result of Gas Company being included in the consolidated return.

The case before this court is even stronger than the *Cities Service* case, in that in the Kansas case the consolidated group reported an overall loss so that no federal tax was paid on the consolidated return; in the present case a federal tax was paid.

The *Cities Service* case followed and reaffirmed an earlier decision, *Northern Natural Gas Processing Co. v. McCoy*, 197 Kan. 740, 421 P2d 190 (1967). The *Northern* case also held that the subsidiary is authorized to deduct its federal income tax liability, computed on a separate return basis and actually paid to its parent, notwithstanding a lesser federal tax on a consolidated return.

A recent decision of the Iowa Board of Tax Review, *Massey-Ferguson Credit Corporation v. Briggs, Director of Revenue*, (Decision No. 48, July 8, 1974; slip opinion not yet published), on similar facts, reached the same conclusion. The Iowa Tax Board stated:

“In support of this position [i.e., deductibility] the Board favorably considers the language of the Supreme Court of Kansas in the case of *Cities Service Gas Company vs. McDonald*, 466 P2d 277. In this case the Court is considering a factual situation much like the one at hand and a Kansas statute similar to our own statute.

Although the Tax Commission's decision does not explicitly so state, it appears based on a Louisiana decision, *Trunkline Gas Co. v. Collector of Revenue* (La. App. 1965) 182 So.2d 674, which describes an allocation procedure like that followed in the staff audits of Midland and Utah. *Trunkline Gas* is not in point. The distinction between that case and this one lies in the governing statutes and regulations. In Louisiana, the court had before it a statute specifically authorizing the Collector to make regulations so as to effect such allocations in cases of federal consolidated returns, and such regulations had been promulgated and followed. No such statute and no such regulations apply in the present case. The Kansas court in the *Cities Service* case considered, and explicitly rejected, the *Trunkline* decision on this basis (466 P2d, at 281).

The record, and the statutory language and the cited authorities, compel the conclusion that Midland and Utah actually paid their respective federal taxes and are entitled to the deductions taken. The federal tax payments were effected by transfers of actual funds. The taxes of these taxpayers were remitted to the IRS by the taxpayers' agent. Neither taxpayer paid a lesser or greater federal tax than would have been due had no consolidated return been filed and each had filed its federal return separately.

The Commission's Finding 7 (last sentence; R. 13) states: "The taxes Midland and Utah deducted on their Utah returns were in a larger amount than were actually paid to the Federal Government." This of course is not the finding of a fact but is rather the conclusionary

determination of the basic legal problem of the case. The idea that not all of the computed federal taxes were “actually” paid comes from Finding 6 (R. 13) in which the Commission purports to find that the parent company “benefited” by the consolidated returns, since some subsidiaries had losses which could be used to offset the gains of others which could not be utilized separately by the loss subsidiaries.

The Commission’s reasoning is wrong in two respects: First, it is wholly immaterial to the correct computation of a Utah tax that a loss incurred by another on business due elsewhere in this country would benefit another corporation having nothing to do with Utah. This is the reasoning of the Kansas and Iowa cases. Secondly, the Commission is factually wrong.

It is true that Continental’s accounting officer testified that in a few situations a loss-incurring subsidiary may not immediately receive its tax refund from Continental in the normal way, as where the loss subsidiary’s membership in the system is new, so that “experience” (i.e., recognition of income) is lacking to demonstrate earnings capability (Tr. 36-37). The witness stated that the subsidiary receives the refund in the future, when justified: “. . . as we get experience, they get the money” (Tr. 37). The Commission has assumed that Continental may simply keep the potential refund if the necessary “experience” does not materialize. In actuality, it does not work that way. Continental’s separate-company computation forbids it. Indeed, the basic purpose of forbidding the refund to a newly acquired loss subsidiary is to foreclose a holding company from trafficking in loss-incurring

subsidiaries for the purpose of availing itself of another company's tax loss. The matter is discussed in Bittker & Eustice, *Federal Income Taxation of Corporations and Shareholders* (3d Ed. 1971), pp 15-69 et seq. The whole point, which the Commission ignores, is that if a new loss subsidiary's lack of experience prevents its loss from generating a tax refund to the subsidiary, then on the identical principle that loss may not be availed of by the parent. This is the very purpose of the regulation. The hidden "benefit" to Continental imagined by the Commission thus is not only not there: the whole exercise arises out of a federal regulation whose exact purpose is to foreclose any such benefit.

Further, in any case where a loss may be deducted by the group, the basis of the stock of the loss affiliate in the parent's hands is reduced to the extent the loss is "availed of" by the group (Bittker & Eustice, *op. cit.*, p. 15-64).

At the bottom of the Commission's decision is the idea that there is some hidden benefit for Continental in the filing of a consolidated return which in some way works to the proportionate benefit of these Utah subsidiaries. This idea is without any support in the record.

Moreover, the Tax Commission has ignored the regulatory way of life to which these taxpayers are subject. The items making up Midland's revenues and expenses, and its relationship with its parent, are recorded in accordance with accounting rules whose very purpose is to assure that that corporation's earnings may be measured, and measured separately. The process is continuously monitored by a regulatory agency charged by law with

that function, and such oversight is backed up by independent audits and reports to lenders. There is no way, given the facts of life for a regulated utility, that benefits of the sort imagined by the Tax Commission could be availed of by these small telephone companies.

The reasons for choosing to file a consolidated federal return are the reasons stated in the record. There is a quicker availability of funds. This lessens borrowing costs.

The suitability of a separate-company consolidated federal tax return, for a regulated public utility, is obvious. It is essential to the nature of a utility that its revenues, operating expenses, plant investments and its profits, be correctly allocated to and recorded for the entity which generates them. That is true of its state and federal tax expenses. A utility cannot otherwise be accurately managed or correctly regulated by the responsible public authorities.

The Tax Commission's determination that Midland and Utah did not "actually" pay the federal taxes they deducted is wrong. Such taxes were actually remitted to the taxpayer's agent and by the agent remitted to the IRS for their account. Equally important, the economic realities fully demonstrate an actual payment.

POINT 2.

THE DECISION OF THE TAX COMMISSION IS
ERRONEOUS INsofar AS IT IS BASED UPON

(a) AN ALLOCATION PURPORTEDLY MADE
UNDER SECTION 59-13-17;

(b) THIS COURT'S DECISION IN THE KEN-
NECOTT CASE; OR

(c) REGULATION 13.

POINT 2(a)

THE DECISION OF THE TAX COMMISSION IS
ERRONEOUS INSOFAR AS IT IS BASED UPON
AN ALLOCATION PURPORTEDLY MADE UNDER
SECTION 59-13-17.

Conclusion of Law No. 2 (R. 16) recites that the Tax Commission is authorized by Sec. 59-13-17 to distribute, apportion or allocate gross income or deductions between and among affiliated corporations if it determines that to be necessary in order to prevent evasion of taxes or clearly to reflect income. The language of the statute is:

Allocation of income and deductions between several corporations controlled by same interests.— In any case of two or more corporations (whether or not organized or doing business in this state, and whether or not affiliated) owned or controlled directly or indirectly by the same interest, the tax commission is authorized to distribute, apportion or allocate gross income or deductions between or among such corporations, if it determines that such distribution, apportionment or allocation is necessary in order to prevent evasion of taxes or clearly to reflect the income of any of such corporations.

The statute affords no basis for the Commission's decision. Legally, Conclusion 2 is a nullity. The Commission merely mentioned the statute's existence. There is no finding or determination whatever that its application is necessary to prevent evasion of taxes by Midland

or Utah, or clearly to reflect the income of Midland or Utah. Such a determination of course could not be made in the face of this record, which demonstrates that neither Midland nor Utah paid a greater or lesser tax under the consolidated return than it would have paid had it filed its federal return separately.

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