2001

Continental Telephone Company of Utah v. State Tax Commission of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE UTAH STATE TAX COMMISSION HAS AUTHORITY UNDER UTAH LAW TO ADOPT RULES AND REGULATIONS PERTAINING TO THE PRESENT DISPUTE AND HAS, IN FACT, LEGALLY ADOPTED REGULATION 13 APPLICABLE TO THE PRESENT SITUATION.

Appellants have brought into dispute the question of whether the Utah State Tax Commission is authorized to adopt rules and regulations pertaining to the question of deductibility of Federal income taxes for state corporate franchise tax purposes. Appellants take the position that the Utah State Tax Commission may not adopt such rules and regulations. (AB-10, 20, 21, 22)

The Constitution of the State of Utah, in Article XIII, Section 11, provides, in part:

“...The State Tax Commission shall administer and supervise the tax laws of the State. . . .The State Tax Commission and the County Boards of Equalization shall each have such other powers as may be prescribed by the Legislature.”

Pursuant to the constitutionally created authority of the Utah State Tax Commission, additional powers are set forth in Utah Code Annotated, Section 59-5-46 (1953), as follows:

“The powers and duties of the state tax commission are as follows:

* * *

(2) To prescribe rules and regulations not in conflict with the Constitution and laws of this state for its own government and the transaction of its business.

(3) To prescribe such rules and regulations as it may deem necessary, not in conflict with the Constitution and laws of the state, to govern county boards and officers in the performance of any duty in connection with assessment, equalization and collection of general taxes.

* * *

(23) To perform such further duties as may be imposed upon it by law, and exercise all powers necessary in the performance of its duties.”

The present action constitutes a dispute regarding the allocation and apportionment of Federal income taxes deducted by taxpayers on their Utah corporate franchise tax returns in an amount of Federal taxes proportionally different than was actually paid by their parent corporation which filed a consolidated Federal income tax return on behalf of all subsidiaries. Utah Code Annotated, Section 59-13-23 (1953) provides, in part, as follows:

“Consolidated returns.—
By Affiliated Group.

(1) An affiliated group of banks and/or other corporations shall, subject to the provisions of this section, have the privilege of making a consolidated return for any taxable year in lieu of separate returns. . . .

Rules and Regulations.

(2) The tax commission shall prescribe such regulations as it may deem necessary in order that the tax liability of an affiliated group of banks and/or corporations making a consolidated return and of each corporation in the group, both during and after the period of affiliation, may be determined, computed, assessed, collected and adjusted in such manner as clearly to reflect the income and to prevent avoidance of tax liability.

(3) (Omitted as not applicable.)

‘Affiliated Group’ Defined.

(4) As used in this section an ‘affiliated group’ means two or more corporations connected through stock ownership with a common parent corporation, if—

(a) At least ninety-five percent of the stock of each of the banks and/or corporations (except the common parent corporation) is owned directly by one or more of the other banks and/or corporations; and,

(b) The common parent corporation owns directly at least ninety-five percent of the stock of at least one of the other corporations. As used in this subsection the term 'stock' does not include nonvoting stock which is limited and preferred as to dividends."

Taxpayers make no contention that they are not a member of an affiliated group as defined in the above-cited statutes. Appellants do contend that the above subsection (2) of Utah Code Annotated, Section 59-13-23, does not apply to the present situation on the ground that taxpayers did not file a consolidated Utah corporate franchise tax return. The statute authorizes the Tax Commission to prescribe such regulations for "of each corporation in the group, both during and after the period of affiliation" Certainly, after the period of affiliation, a corporation would not be filing a consolidated Utah income tax return; hence, the above-subsection (2) reaches all situations dealing with an affiliated group of corporations, as defined.

Utah Code Annotated, Section 59-13-17 (1953), provides:

"Allocation of income and deductions between several corporations controlled by same interest. — In any case of two or more corporations (whether or not organized or doing business in this state, and whether or not affiliated) owned or controlled directly or indirectly by the same interests, the tax commission is authorized to distribute, apportion or allocate gross income or deductions between or among such corporations, if it determines that such distribution, apportionment or allocation is necessary in order to prevent evasion of taxes or clearly to reflect the income of any such corporations."

Utah law provides that tax statutes should be construed to effectuate their purposes as representative of the intent of the Legislature.

Appellants state in their own Brief:

“Further, the Tax Commission had ample further power under the allocation statute (Section 53-19-17) to make proper allocations of income or deduction items on a case-by-case basis where a taxpayer has, innocently or otherwise, adopted a Federal return procedure which shifts or distorts income or deductions. This power extends to any group of affiliated companies, whether the members file separately or on a consolidated basis.” (AB-21)

Utah statutes further provide:

“Rules of construction as to words and phrases. —Words and phrases are to be construed according to the context and the approved usage of the language; but technical words and phrases, and such others as have acquired a peculiar and appropriate meaning in law, or are defined by statute, are to be construed according to such peculiar and appropriate meaning or definition.” (Utah Code Annotated, Section 68-3-11 (1953))

Where there is doubt respecting true meaning of certain words, the words should be read in light of conditions and necessities which they are intended to meet and objects sought to be attained thereby. (*United States Smelting, Refining & Milling Co. v. Utah Power & Light Co.*, 58 U. 168, 197 P. 902 (1921)) The Utah Legislature intended to cover all situations dealing with consolidated returns and affiliated groups and statutorily authorized the Utah State Tax Commission to adopt such rules and regulations as it may deem necessary in order to properly determine, compute, assess, collect and adjust the income tax of each member of said group to clearly reflect income and to prevent the avoidance of tax liability.

Regarding the adoption of rules and regulations by an administrative body of the State of Utah, this court, in *Utah Hotel Company v. Industrial Commission*, 107 Utah 24, 151 P. 2d 467 (1944), stated, in dictum, that:

“In *Manhattan General Equipment Co. v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue*, 297 U.S. 129, 56 S. Ct. 397, 400, 80 L.Ed. 528, the Court held that an administrative regulation which was contrary to the statutory provision was a nullity. In so holding, the Court said:

“The power of an administrative officer or board to administer a federal statute and to prescribe rules and regulations to that end is not the power to make law . . . but the power to adopt regulations to carry into effect the will of Congress as expressed by the statute. A regulation which does not do this, but operates to create a rule out of harmony with the statute, is a mere nullity” (107 Utah 24, 32)

The Court further stated:

“We deem it essential to a clear understanding of the problems implicit in this matter to note at the outset that regulations of administrative tribunals are not all birds of a feather. A failure to note this fact will inevitably lead to hazy thinking and erroneous concepts. The weight which should be given to a prior administrative regulation will to a large extent be dependent upon the type of regulation involved. Regulations may be promulgated pursuant to a specific delegation of legislative power. In prescribing such regulations, the administrative tribunal, within designated limits, may actually be making the law or prescribing what the law shall be. In prescribing such a regulation the tribunal in effect legislates within the boundaries marked out for its action by

legislative enactment. On the other hand, the administrative tribunal may, by adopting a given regulation, only purport to interpret what the legislature meant by its statutory language. Such a regulation is nothing but an administrative opinion as to what the statute under construction means.” (At page 31)

Pursuant to the above statute, authorizing the State Tax Commission to apportion or allocate gross income between affiliated corporations to properly reflect income and prevent evasion of taxes, and the other statutory authority cited above, the Utah State Tax Commission adopted Corporate Franchise Tax Regulation, No. 13 (Exhibit No. 17). This regulation is directed specifically to the problem of deducting an amount on the state corporate tax return of Federal taxes different from an amount representing that corporation’s proportionate share of Federal income taxes actually paid and was intended to govern all deductions of Federal income taxes for Utah corporate taxation.

Utah Code Annotated, Section 59-13-7 (1953), provided certain deductions from gross income to compute net income, and these include:

- (3) Taxes paid or accrued within the taxable year, except—(exceptions not applicable in this case).

One Utah case has specifically dealt with the above Utah statute which was formerly Utah Code Annotated, Section 80-13-8 (3) (1943), granting a “taxes paid” deduction and stated:

“...The former statute defines net income as ‘gross income . . . less the deduction allowed by section 80-13-8.’ The latter enumerates the various items to be deducted from gross income to determine net income. In making the argument plaintiffs had either overlooked or wholly ignored subsection (3) of section 80-13-8. That subsection provides in language which could hardly be made more clear, and certainly cannot

be said to be ambiguous or uncertain, that taxes 'paid or accrued within the taxable year' are one of the items to be deducted from gross income in order to determine net income.'" (*New Park Mining Company v. State Tax Commission*, 113 Utah 410, 413, 196 P.2d 485 (1948))

Appellants contend in their Brief (AB-20) that Utah Code Annotated, Section 59-13-7 (3), regarding "taxes-paid deduction in computing net income," does not specifically refer to or grant the State Tax Commission authority to make rules and regulations. In support of this contention, appellant notes that other subsections, most notably 8 and 10, expressly provide authorization for rules and regulations. Appellants then argue the doctrine of *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*. This doctrine has never been applied to the tax laws in the State of Utah. The mere expression of an item in one part of the statute does not exclude its application in another part of the same statute.

Based on the facts and exhibits before the Utah State Tax Commission, as hereinabove more specifically set forth, the Tax Commission concluded that Utah Code Annotated, Section 59-13-17 (1953), was applicable and necessary to clearly reflect income. The Utah State Tax Commission set forth in Finding of Fact, Paragraph 14 (R-15), that the failure to apply the Utah State Corporate Franchise Tax Regulation, No. 13, would cost the State of Utah revenue, since a greater amount of Federal tax liability deduction was taken by taxpayers on their separate state corporate franchise tax returns than was actually paid to the Federal Government on the basis of apportioning taxpayers' share of Federal tax liability. The apportioned figure is a ratio of the taxable income of the separate taxpayer to the total taxable income of all corpora-

tions in the consolidated group times the Federal income tax liability of the total group. Hence, Utah income was not properly reflected; and the assessed deficiencies and overpayments are set forth in the Exhibits 2 through 7 and 11 through 16.

Substantial benefits were given the parent corporation and each member of the consolidated group. Some ten specific advantages are set forth in a tax treatise: *75 Commerce Clearing House, Standard Federal Tax Reporter*, Vol. 7, Paragraph 4903.17, at Page 58560-58561. Some of these advantages include offsetting of operating losses of one company against the profits of another; the distribution of intercompany dividends without the recognition of taxable income (this advantage will be eliminated in 1975); the avoidance of tax on other intercompany distributions; the use by the consolidated group of the excess of one member's foreign tax credit over its limitation on that credit; the use by the group of the excess of one member's investment credit over its investment credit limitation, and no recapture of earlier years' investment credits where there is an early disposition to another group member. Many advantages result from taking deductions as a group that are not otherwise legally available to the separate companies due to limitations and restrictions.

The adoption of Regulation 13 was in accordance with Utah law and applied specifically to taxpayers, together with the Utah statutes requiring a proper allocation of Federal income tax deductions on the corporate franchise tax return.

POINT II

CORPORATE FRANCHISE TAX REGULATION, NO. 13, APPLIES DIRECTLY TO THE PRESENT SITUATION AND HAS BEEN RECOGNIZED AS APPLICABLE TO SIMILAR SITUATIONS BY THE UTAH SUPREME COURT.

Corporate Franchise Tax Regulation, No. 13, deals directly with deductible Federal income taxes and the allocation of the same. (E-17) The Corporate Franchise Tax Regulation, No. 13, set forth in the Appendix to Appellant's Brief, is *not* the regulation in effect under the present fact situation during the taxable years in question and should be disregarded. (AB-Appendix) (See Exhibit 17) In particular, the second paragraph in Section 13.3 (a) is not found in the Regulation 13 applicable to this situation. Appellant's argument (AB-19) that the addition to the regulation, to be effective for tax years after January 1, 1973, as indicative of the Tax Commission's own admission of lack of regulative support for its position in this matter, is untenable. This argument is irrelevant and bears similarity to the "subsequent repairs" reason for nonadmissibility of evidence under the Utah Rules of Evidence 51. There are other minor word changes in appellant's Regulation 13 that should be disregarded. The correct regulation is Exhibit 17.

The applicable portions of Corporate Franchise Tax Regulation, No. 13, effective for all taxable years beginning after October 31, 1964, are, as follows:

"4. Allocation of federal income taxes. . . .(b)
In general, the assignment of federal income taxes shall be made only to those segments of net income subject to federal income tax and shall be made on the basis of net income before federal taxes. Due consideration must be given to segments of net income subject to special federal tax treatment, such as domestic and foreign dividends, capital gains, etc.

(c) *Federal income tax assignments are to be made to profit-producing items or divisions only. Each profit-producing item or division must be assigned its proportionate share of the total allowable federal tax deduction based on the ratio that the income of such profit-producing item or division bears to the total of all profit-producing items or divisions. Regardless of the mechanics used, the total of the federal tax assignments made against the profit-producing items or divisions, regardless of where located or whether or not subject to state income or franchise taxes, may not exceed the total corporate federal tax liability for the particular year involved, (in the case of an accrual basis taxpayer), or the total amount paid (in the case of a cash basis taxpayer).*

“The Utah State Tax Commission does not recognize, for Utah corporation franchise tax purposes, the so-called ‘tax savings’ resulting from loss items. ‘Red-figure’ allocations of federal income taxes will not be accepted. Loss items or divisions must not be assigned any federal income tax either positive or negative. Loss items or divisions shall be appropriately treated in effective tax rate determinations so as to produce assignments of federal income tax which are consonant with the requirements set forth herein.”
(Emphasis added.)

The above-cited sections of Regulation 13 are most applicable to appellants’ fact situation. Sections of Regulation 13 cited in the Conclusions of Law deal specifically with the requirements that

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